2007-CA-01489 SCT-T

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI, CASE NO. 2007-TS-01489

DEWAYNE GAMMEL, individually and on behalf of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Anothy W. Gammel, deceased,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

TATE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Defendant/Appellee.

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities have an interest in the outcome of this appeal. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court of Mississippi and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Randall Dewayne Gammel
Amy Dyane Gammel
Keisha Elizabeth Gammel

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Dewayne Gammel, Plaintiff/Appellant in this cause, submits his statement of the issues on appeal. Gammel is appealing "M.R.C.P. 54(b) Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment of Defendant Tate County School District," entered by the trial court on August 2, 2007. The trial court offered four reasons in support of this order and, therefore, Gammel identifies the following four specific issues on appeal:

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in determining that Gammel could not conduct additional discovery pursuant to MRCP 56(f) before it issued a ruling on Tate County School District's Motion for summary judgment.
- Whether the trial court erred in determining that Tate County School District was entitled to summary judgment because it did not owe a duty to the deceased, Anothy W. Gammel.
- Whether the trial court erred in determining that Tate County School

 District was entitled to summary judgment because it is immune from liability under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.
- Whether the trial court erred in determining that Tate County School

 District was entitled to summary judgment because of a lack of evidence of causation between the school district's negligent acts or omissions and the death of Anothy W. Gammel.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a wrongful death action. On the night of February 4, 2005, in Tate County, Mississippi, the decedent, Anothy W. Gammel, was struck by a vehicle driven by Christa Dean. He died within a few hours as a result of his injuries. The decedent was hit on East Tate Road while walking his children from a parking lot to East Tate Elementary School, located just across the road. The Gammels were making their way to the school to attend the Winter Carnival. The parking lot and East Tate Elementary School are owned and controlled by Defendant/Appellee, Tate County School District (TCSD). The evidence shows that the accident scene was a poorly lit area. Gammel contends that TCSD is liable to the beneficiaries of the decedent's estate for negligent failure to provide and maintain sufficient outdoor lighting. If appropriate lighting had been present, the accident would have been averted because the vehicle operator and/or decedent would have seen the other in time to take evasive action.

B. Course of Relevant Proceedings

Dewayne Gammel, one of seven beneficiaries of the estate of decedent Anothy W.

Gammel, commenced this civil action in the Circuit Court of Tate County, Mississippi, on

February 14, 2005, by filing the Complaint. There were two defendants in the initial pleading –

Christa Dean, the driver of the vehicle that hit decedent, and State Farm Mutual Automobile

Insurance Company, the decedent's underinsured/uninsured carrier.

On May 2, 2006, Gammel filed First Amended Complaint, which added Tate County School District and Tate County as additional defendants. Among other things, Gammel alleged that TCSD owed decedent and other people attending the Winter Carnival a duty to provide adequate and reasonable safety measures and a duty to maintain a safe school environment for foreseeable attendees. R. at 40, First Amended Complaint ¶ 15. Gammel averred that TCSD

was liable in negligence because it failed "to exercise ordinary care in providing and/or maintaining adequate lighting of the roadway and adjacent parking areas located next to the roadway, when [it] knew or should have known that the failure to do so would subject the . . . decedent . . . to an unreasonable risk of harm." R. at 40-41, First Amended Complaint ¶ 16(a). TCSD filed its Answer to the First Amended Complaint on May 17, 2006. R. at 52.

Gammel and TCSD each served the other with interrogatories and requests for production. TCSD served Gammel with its interrogatories and production requests on May 15, 2006. R. at 50. Gammel served responses on September 27, 2006. R. at 157. Gammel served TCSD with his interrogatories and production requests on November 28, 2006. R. at 104. TCSD served unverified interrogatory responses and production responses on January 26, 2007. R. at 106. TCSD did not serve Gammel with verified interrogatory responses until April 2, 2007. Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary Judgment at 25.

Gammel requested the deposition of Kaye Adams, the principal of East Tate Elementary School, on May 11, 2007.

Thereafter, on May 22, 2007, TCSD filed a motion for summary judgment. R. at 338. A critical evidentiary component of TCSD's motion was "Affidavit of Principal Kaye Adams," R. at 356-58, the same person whom Gammel sought to depose 11 days earlier. On June 27, 2007, Gammel filed a brief in opposition to TCSD's motion for summary judgment and attorney Thomas A. Waller's Rule 56(f) affidavit. R. at 417-25.

The trial court heard TCSD's summary judgment motion on June 28, 2007. On August 2, 2007, Judge Baker entered an order granting summary judgment to TCSD and making the order

a final judgment.¹ R. at 451-57. Gammel filed a timely notice of appeal on August 20, 2007. R. at 458.

C. Statement of Facts Relevant to this Appeal

On the night of February 4, 2005, in Tate County, Mississippi, the decedent, Anothy W. Gammel, was struck by a vehicle driven by Christa Dean. R. at 172-77 (Deputy Jim Woolfolk's Uniform Crash Report). He died from his injuries within a few hours. <u>Id.</u>; R. at 184 (Certificate of Death).

The decedent was hit on East Tate Road while walking his children from a parking lot to East Tate Elementary School, located just across the road. R. at 172-77 (Deputy Jim Woolfolk's Uniform Crash Report). The Gammels were making their way to the school to attend the Winter Carnival. R. at 393 (Plaintiff's Responses to TCSD's First Set of Interrogatories, No. 16). The parking lot and East Tate Elementary School are owned and controlled by Defendant/Appellee, Tate County School District (TCSD). R. at 177 (Deputy Jim Woolfolk's Uniform Crash Report); R. at 356-58 (Affidavit of Principal Kaye Adams).

The scene of the incident – a road bordered on both sides by TCSD property – was dark and unlit. R. at 176 (Deputy Jim Woolfolk's Uniform Crash Report identifies the scene as "Dark-Unlit"); R. at 395 (Plaintiff's Responses to TCSD's First Set of Interrogatories, No. 20). At that time, at least one nearby outdoor light on TCSD property was out; after the incident, TCSD reported the outage and the light was repaired. Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary Judgment at 21 (counsel for TCSD admits these facts to the trial court); R. at 188 (a Tate County Sheriff Department accident investigation note states that a light near the scene was "not functioning").

¹ Tate County also filed a motion for summary judgment. On July 17, 2007, the trial court granted Tate County's motion and made it a final judgment. R. at 446-50. Gammel did not appeal this ruling.

TCSD had a legal duty to protect people visiting the school by, *inter alia*, providing sufficient outdoor lighting. First, TCSD is obligated by multiple statutory provisions to make its premises safe for patrons. See discussion <u>infra</u> at part VII.B.2. Second, the evidence shows that regardless of statutory duties, TCSD undertook a duty to ensure that ample outdoor lighting was provided. In response to Gammel's interrogatory No. 4, TCSD stated under oath that

the outdoor premises lighting on East Tate Elementary School property is owned and maintained by Tallahatchie Valley Electric Power Association. When, and if, school personnel, including Principal Adams or the TCSD maintenance department, discover a problem with a light, the problem is reported to Tallahatchie Valley Electric Power Association. Principal Adams lives on the campus of East Tate Elementary School and inspects the lighting on a daily basis.

Gammel's Designation of the Record, Ex. 5 at 2. Also, in response to Gammel's interrogatory No. 9, TCSD, through District Superintendent Gary Walker stated: "Principal Adams inspects the lighting on the East Tate Elementary School property on a daily basis. The maintenance department of TCSD inspects the lighting on the East Tate Elementary School property on a regular basis." See also id. at 5. Notably, however, in her own affidavit, Principal Adams does not say that she inspects the lights on a daily basis. Far from that, she merely stated that that she "is aware of the lighting present on campus." R. at 356 ¶ 3. Adams said that she "routinely walk[s] to and from school after sunset and/or before sunrise" but this is a far cry from Superintendent Walker's claim that Principal Adams "inspects the lighting . . . on a daily basis."

Further, the evidence shows that TCSD, through its own written policies, undertook a duty to make school grounds safe for patrons. TCSD has a non-delegable duty to supervise functions, like the Winter Carnival, that occur on school property. In response to Gammel's requests for production, TCSD produced its "School Facility Rental" policy. At produced page TCSD000047, TCSD declares that "[u]nless otherwise noted the use of any [school] facility shall be supervised at [user's] expense during such use by at least one employee of the school district" and that "supervision is required to the extent necessary to protect the interest of the school

district." Gammel's Designation of the Record, Exhibit 4 at TCSD000047-55. Also in its "School Facility Rental" policy, TCSD states that the PTA² may use school facilities without charge or application when the event is approved in advance and "supervised by the school principal or administrator having responsibility for the facility or his designee who is an employee of the school district." <u>Id.</u> at TCSD000048. In addition, TCSD undertook the duty by way of its "School Occupational Safety & Crisis Response Plan," which states that "[e]very effort shall be made to provide all reasonable precautions to protect the safety of all students, employees, visitors, and those present on district property or at school-sponsored events." Gammel's Designation of the Record, Exhibit 6 at TCSD000116.

In an attempt to contest the existence of a duty, TCSD argued that decedent was a trespasser who was owed no duty of care. The trial court agreed, stating that "when the decedent parked his vehicle in the parking lot labeled 'bus parking only,' he maintained the status as a trespasser." R. 452. In actuality, the decedent was not a trespasser. TCSD's counsel acknowledged this during the hearing that held on TCSD's motion for summary judgment. Counsel for TCSD admitted that decedent "was invited to the winter carnival and he was invited to park in the parking places around the school that are provided for individuals that visit the school." Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary Judgment at 56-57. Also, in the Uniform Crash Report, Deputy Woolfolk identified the parking lot in question as "School Parking," not as a bus-only parking lot. R. at 195. Furthermore, it is undisputed that decedent was injured on East Tate Road – the thoroughfare that bisects East Tate Elementary School property – while making his way to the school. R. at

² TCSD has contended that the Winter Carnival was the sole responsibility of the school's PTA.

³ Notably, the Affidavit of Principal Adams does not directly quote the language of the signs posted at the parking lot in question. Adams just says that the lot is "designated as bus parking only." Curiously absent is evidence that there was a "No Trespassing" sign or that TCSD considers a parent who parks on the lot to attend a school event to be a trespasser.

176, 195. So, even if the law were to bestow trespasser status on decedent while he was on the parking lot itself, decedent could not have been a trespasser at the time Dean's car hit him. At the moment of impact, decedent was on East Tate Road (not the parking lot) making his way to the elementary school.

TCSD breached its duty of care with respect to the provision of ample lighting. The scene was dark and unlit, and at least one nearby outdoor light on TCSD property was out. R. at 176, 188, 395; Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary Judgment at 21. Even if an existing light was not out, an issue remains as to whether TCSD provided adequate lighting for patrons visiting the school at night to attend school functions like the Winter Carnival.

The record contains evidence that TCSD's failure to provide adequate outdoor lighting was the proximate cause of decedent's death. Christa Dean, the driver of the vehicle that hit decedent, told Deputy Woolfolk that she did not see decedent. R. at 185. Witnesses at the scene, Sonya Darnell and Timothy Algee, heard Dean say, "I didn't see him." R. at 185-87.

The element of damages is undisputed. Anothy Gammel died as a result of injuries sustained when he was hit by Dean's car in front of East Tate Elementary School. R. at 184 (Certificate of Death).

The record reflects that Gammel should have been permitted to conduct additional discovery in response to TCSD's motion for summary judgment. A central component of TCSD's summary judgment evidence was the affidavit Kaye Adams, the principal of East Tate Elementary School. Gammel requested Principal Adams's deposition before TCSD filed its motion for summary judgment. At the summary judgment hearing, counsel for TCSD acknowledged that Gammel's counsel requested Principal Adams's deposition on May 11, 2007. Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary

Judgment at 54. But TCSD represented to the trial court that it filed its motion for summary judgment before Gammel's attorney sought this deposition. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also</u> R. at 428 (in the rebuttal memorandum filed in support of the motion for summary judgment, TCSD represented that it filed the motion before Gammel sought Adams' deposition). TCSD misled Judge Baker. The record shows that TCSD served its summary judgment motion on May 18, 2007, and filed it with the trial court on May 22. R. at 338, 340.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court granted TCSD's motion for summary judgment prematurely. It should have delayed its ruling to permit Gammel to conduct discovery on issues raised by TCSD's motion. Of special importance was Gammel's need to depose Kaye Adams, the principal at Tate County Elementary School. Gammel's counsel requested her deposition on May 11, 2007. Eleven days later, on May 22, TCSD filed its motion for summary judgment. The most important piece of evidence that TCSD submitted in support of its motion was an affidavit from Principal Adams. The trial court granted the motion before Adams' deposition could be taken.

The record shows that Gammel should be allowed to proceed with his negligence claim against TCSD. There is evidence of duty, breach, causation and damages. Pursuant to Miss. Code § 37-9-69, Miss. Code § 37-7-301 and this Court's holdings in other cases involving school districts, TCSD owed decedent the duty to make school premises safe for patrons like himself.

Contrary to TCSD's contention, the school district is not immune from liability. Under Miss. Code § 11-46-9(1)(b), where a school district owes someone a statutory duty, there can be no finding of immunity absent express findings of fact and conclusions of law reflecting that the district performed its statutory duties with reasonable care. Pearl Pub. Sch. Dist. v. Groner, 784 So. 2d 911, 915-16 (Miss. 2001).

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court "conducts de novo review of an order granting or denying summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it – admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made." Stewart v. City of Jackson, 804 So. 2d 1041, 1046 (Miss. 2002) (citing Gant v. Maness, 786 So. 2d 401, 403 (Miss. 2001)). Where there is any doubt as to whether the movant is entitled to summary judgment, the non-movant prevails.

All motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion. When doubt exists whether there is a fact issue, the non-moving party gets its benefit. Indeed, the party against whom the summary judgment is sought should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt. A motion for summary judgment should be overruled unless the trial court finds, beyond any reasonable doubt, that the plaintiff would be unable to prove any facts to support his claim.

Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So. 2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993) (citations omitted).

B. Argument as to Specific Issues on Appeal

The order of summary judgment in favor of TCSD is due to be reversed for two separate overall reasons. First, the ruling was issued prematurely. Pursuant to MRCP 56(f), the trial court should have allowed Gammel to conduct additional discovery before issuing the order. Second, even as it exists now, the record contains sufficient evidence for Gammel to present his negligence claim against TCSD to the fact finder. There is evidence of duty, breach, causation and damages, and TCSD is not immune from liability.

1. <u>Summary judgment was inappropriate because the trial court should have</u> allowed additional discovery pursuant to Rule 56(f).

As noted in the Statement of Facts, <u>supra</u>, the record reflects that Gammel should have been permitted to conduct additional discovery in response to TCSD's motion for summary

Adams, the principal of East Tate Elementary School. Plaintiff requested Principal Adams's deposition before TCSD filed its motion for summary judgment. At the summary judgment hearing, counsel for TCSD acknowledged that Gammel's counsel requested Principal Adams's deposition on May 11, 2007. Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary Judgment at 54. But TCSD represented to the trial court that it filed its motion for summary judgment before Gammel's attorney sought this deposition. Id.; see also R. at 428 (in the rebuttal memorandum filed in support of the motion for summary judgment, TCSD represented that it filed the motion before Gammel sought Adams' deposition). TCSD misled Judge Baker. The record shows that TCSD served its summary judgment motion on May 18, 2007, and filed it with the trial court on May 22. R. at 338, 340.

The case at bar is comparable to <u>Owens v. Thomae</u>, 759 So. 2d 1117 (Miss. 1999), where this Court ruled that the trial judge erred in denying the plaintiff's Rule 56(f) request.

While Owens offered a minimal amount of evidence in opposition to summary judgment, given her request for a continuance in order to conduct discovery on the status issue, coupled with her having previously attempted to conduct discovery on this issue and the fact that the discovery needed was in the possession of the party moving for summary judgment, we find that the trial court erred in not granting a continuance for further discovery on the status issue with regard to Dr. Thomae.

759 So. 2d at 1123. See also Maxwell v. Baptist Mem. Hospital-Desoto, Inc., 2007 Miss. App. LEXIS 226, *13-*14 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) ("Further, considering the totality of the pleadings, the answers to interrogatories, and the affidavits submitted by the Maxwells in opposition to the motion for summary judgment and in support of their request for a thirty-day continuance, we find that the court erred in not permitting supplementation of the affidavits and in not continuing the hearing pursuant to Rule 56(e) and (f) of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure.").

ţ

The trial court's rationale for denying Gammel's Rule 56(f) request was as follows:

The record of this case establishes that as of the date Tate County School District sought summary judgment, there were no outstanding requests for discovery to Tate County School District and the period provided for discovery by the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice 4.04(a) had expired without extension.

R. at 451. The trial court was misguided on both points. First, as previously noted, there was an outstanding request by Gammel for the deposition of Kaye Adams, the principal of East Tate Elementary School.

Second, invocation of Uniform Rule 4.04(a)'s 90-day discovery period was inappropriate. The trial court looked to this rule at TCSD's urging. R. at 428. But TCSD cannot invoke the rule because it has unclean hands. It took TCSD more than 90 days just to provide Gammel with sworn responses to his interrogatories. Gammel served TCSD with his interrogatories and production requests on November 28, 2006. R. at 104. TCSD served unverified interrogatory responses and production responses on January 26, 2007. R. at 106. TCSD did not serve Gammel with verified interrogatory responses until April 2, 2007. Transcript of June 28, 2007, Hearing on TCSD's and Tate County's Motions for Summary Judgment at 25.

2. Tate County School District owed the decedent a legal duty.

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