IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI



DEWAYNE GAMMEL, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF ANOTHY W. GAMMEL, DECEASED

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

versus

TATE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

DEFENDANT-APPELLER
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TATE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
BRIEF OF TATE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT, APPELLEE
ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

WILTON V. BYARS, III - BAR BROOKE NEWMAN- BAR # DANIEL, COKER, HORTON & BELL, P.A. OXFORD SQUARE NORTH 265 SOUTH LAMAR BOULEVARD SUITE R POST OFFICE BOX 1396 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655-1396 (662) 232-8979

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs have asserted that the two years they had to conduct discovery after filing the initial Complaint was insufficient and, accordingly, that the trial court improperly denied their Rule 56(f) Motion for Additional Time to conduct discovery. The trial court exercised its discretion and properly ruled that the plaintiffs had ample time to conduct the discovery necessary

to respond to defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment.

In order to establish a claim of negligence, it is elementary that all four elements of negligence must be established: duty, breach, causation and damages. The plaintiffs failed to establish that any duty was owed to the decedent, that any duty was breached by TCSD, or that any acts or omissions of TCSD were causally related to the subject accident.

Further, the plaintiffs have failed to rebut TCSD's defense that TCSD is immune from liability pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act (hereinafter "MTCA"). Specifically, TCSD is immune because 1.) its decisions with regard to maintenance and/or construction of lighting, caution lights, signage, warning devices, and the decision to seek or provide for the hiring of law enforcement personnel were all discretionary decisions, 2.) it owed no statutory duty to the decedent, 3.) it had no notice of any alleged defect on the premises, and 4.) any alleged defect was obvious to one exercising due care. As such, the trial court's ruling is supported by the undisputed facts and must be affirmed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

As to the Rule 56(f) assignment of error, the appropriate standard of review of a trial court's actions regarding discovery issues is limited to an abuse of discretion standard. Wyatt v. City of Pearl, 876 So.2d 281, 283 (Miss. 2004). The Court of Appeals of Mississippi "has repeatedly held that trial judges have vested in them broad discretionary powers in granting or refusing to grant a continuance." Frye v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co., 915 So.2d 486, 490 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); see also McClendon v. State, 335 So.2d 887, 888 (Miss. 1987). "The denial of a continuance is not reversible error unless manifest injustice appears to have resulted from that denial." Id. A party in opposition to the motion for summary judgment may not rely on vague assertions that further discovery will produce needed information. Id. Instead,

the party must "present specific facts why he cannot oppose the motion and must specifically demonstrate 'how postponement of a ruling on the motion will enable him to rebut the movant's showing of the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.' Moreover, Rule 56(f) is not designed to protect litigants who are lazy and dilatory and normally the party invoking must show what steps have been taken to obtain access to the information allegedly within the exclusive possession of the other party." *Frye*, 915 So.2d at 491.

The appropriate standard of review for the grant of summary judgment is de novo. *Prepaid Legal Servs.*, *Inc.* v. *Battle*, 873 So.2d 79 (Miss. 2004). Under this well established standard, "the Motion should be granted only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Peden v. City of Gautier*, 870 So.2d 1185, 1187 (Miss. 2004). When the Court reviews the grant or denial of summary judgment, it considers all evidentiary matters before it. *Rein v. Benchmark Constr. Co.*, 865 So.2d 1134, 1142 (Miss. 2004). The party opposing the Motion must be diligent and may not rest upon the allegations or denials in the pleadings, but must by allegations or denials set forth specific facts showing that there are genuine issues for trial. *Richmond v. Benchmark Constr. Corp.*, 692 So.2d 60, 61 (Miss. 1997).

B. The trial court properly denied plaintiffs' untimely request for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

The trial court properly denied the plaintiffs' request for additional time to conduct discovery in accordance with MISS. RULE OF CIV. P. 56(f). MISS. RULE OF CIV. P. 56(f) provides that:

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just.

Plaintiffs failed to establish the requisite elements to obtain such an extension. The Supreme Court of Mississippi, in *Holifield v. Pitts Swabbing Company*, held that:

The party resisting summary judgment must present specific facts why he cannot oppose the motion and must specifically demonstrate 'how postponement of a ruling on the motion will enable him, by discovery or other means, to rebut the movant's showing of the absence of a genuine issue of fact.' The party opposing the motion for summary judgment may not rely on vague assertions that discovery will produce needed, but unspecified, facts particularly where there was ample time and opportunity for discovery. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n v. Spence & Green Chem. Co., 612 F.2d 896, 901 (5th Cir. 1980); see also, Aviation Specialties, Inc. v. United Tech. Corp., 568 F.2d 1186, 1189 (5th Cir. 1978) (failure to conduct discovery where case was on docket for six months bars application of 56(f)). This is so because Rule 56(f) is not designed to protect the litigants who are lazy or dilatory and normally the party invoking Rule 56(f) must show what steps have been taken to obtain access to the information allegedly within the exclusive possession of another party. Finally the determination as to the adequacies of the nonmovants Rule 56(f) affidavits and the decision to grant a continuance or order further discovery rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be reversed unless his decision can be characterized as an abuse of discretion. Fontenot v. Upjohn Co., 780 F.2d 1190, 1193 (5th Cir. 1986).

533 So. 2d 112 (Miss. 1988). In their Rule 56(f) Motion filed in response to Tate County's Motion for Summary Judgment, plaintiffs claimed to need additional time to conduct discovery, but admitted that discovery was prolonged in this case. (R. at 306). The plaintiffs failed to provide a single reason why the discovery requested was not conducted in the two years prior to the filing of Tate County's Motion to Stay Discovery. (Id.). During that two year period, plaintiffs failed to request a single deposition until defendant Tate County filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on February 28, 2007, and its Motion to Stay Discovery pending a ruling on its Motion for Summary Judgment on March 2, 2007. In his Affidavit, Thomas A. Waller, attorney for plaintiffs, admitted that no depositions had been taken and he identified areas upon which the plaintiffs desired to conduct discovery in order to adequately respond to TCSD's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 303-07). However, the Affidavit fails to show what steps the

plaintiffs had taken to obtain access to the information or how the discovery would create a genuine issue of material fact. Instead, the plaintiffs attempt to make issues of immaterial facts that are non-outcome determinative. In their Appellants' Brief, plaintiffs assert that additional discovery should have been allowed because TCSD took more than 90 days to provide plaintiffs with sworn responses to Interrogatories. (Appellants' Brief at 15). What plaintiffs failed to state was that they had agreed in writing to allow TCSD an extension to answer the discovery due to the fact that school was out for Christmas holidays during the period of time in which the responses were due. TCSD provided unsigned responses and all of the documents requested to plaintiffs as soon as it was possible and later provided the responses to Interrogatories signed by the TCSD representative. Plaintiffs neglect to mention that the responses were identical. Regardless, Mississippi case law clearly dictates that it is a party's duty to complain to the court and obtain action by the court regarding any discovery violations. Ford Motor Co. v. Tennin, 960 So.2d 379, 394 (Miss. 2007). The plaintiffs never filed an Motion to Compel or requested any action by the trial court, and therefore, cannot rely upon any alleged tardiness by TCSD in responding to discovery requests as a basis for requesting additional discovery.

Due to the fact that the plaintiffs merely relied upon vague assertions that additional discovery would produce needed, but not specified or material facts, and the fact that the further discovery would not produce evidence creating a material fact, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying the plaintiffs' Motion for Additional Time and granting TCSD's Motion For Summary Judgment.

C. The trial court properly held that no legal duty was owed to the decedent by Tate County School District.

The decedent was not on the property of TCSD at the time of the subject accident. It is undisputed that the public roadway on which the accident occurred is not, and has never been.

owned by TCSD. TCSD had no duty to warn the decedent, a grown man, of the potential dangers of crossing a roadway. To hold otherwise would require every governmental entity to post warning signs along every road alerting pedestrians that they should watch for oncoming traffic. This assertion by plaintiffs is simply non-sensical. The basis of plaintiff' claims is that TCSD had a duty to warn the decedent that he should look both ways prior to crossing the street for any oncoming vehicles with lights on that any adult using ordinary care should do without warning. If the decedent would have looked and viewed the headlights of oncoming traffic, the accident would have been avoided.

In an attempt to establish a duty owed to the decedent by TCSD, plaintiffs rely upon several sweeping statutes in support of the premise that school districts have the duty to provide and maintain a safe premises for students. (Appellants' Brief at 15-16). However, these statutes do not provide any duty that TCSD owed to an individual that was not even on its property at the time of the accident or to an individual that was a trespasser. Further, plaintiffs misconstrue *Pearl Public School District v. Groner*, a case in which the Supreme Court of Mississippi held that "a school district has a duty of ordinary care with respect to providing a safe environment for its patrons." 784 So. 2d 911, 915 (Miss. 2001). *Groner* is clearly distinguishable in that the non-student patron in *Groner* was on the school premises as an invitee at the time of the accident. The decedent in the subject case had made his way onto a public road after he had exited school property where he was an uninvited trespasser. Clearly the facts of *Groner* do not apply to the case at hand.

In a case eerily similar to the case at hand, the Supreme Court of Mississippi recently held in *Albert v. Scott's Truck Plaza, Inc.* that an owner/occupier of property did not owe the decedent a duty at the time she was fatally injured while crossing a public highway abutting the truck stop. 2008 Miss. LEXIS 121, at *2 (Miss. Feb, 28, 2008). In *Albert*, the decedent and her husband (the

Alberts) were truck drivers who had stopped at Scott's Truck Plaza in Meridian for breakfast in the early morning hours while it was still dark outside. 2008 Miss. LEXIS 121, at *2. They parked the truck in a gravel lot on the west side of Russell Mt. Gilead Road and traveled across the road to Scott's truck stop. *Id.* After breakfast and while crossing Russell Mt. Gilead Road to return to their truck, Kyla Albert was struck and killed by an on-coming vehicle. *Id.* Mark Albert, the decedent's husband, filed suit against the driver of the vehicle, the landowner and lessor of the truck stop, and the operating partners and lessees of the truck stop alleging that Scott's Truck Plaza negligently provided inadequate lighting, obstructed the view of pedestrians and drivers by placing a propane tank and advertising in its parking lot, and failed to warn of hidden dangers. *Id.* at *3. Summary judgment was granted as to all defendants finding lack of duty to provide adequate lighting or warn the decedent of the dangers associated with crossing the road and lack of proximate cause. *Id.* at **3-4.

In upholding the trial court's grant of summary judgment, the Supreme Court first analyzed the decedent's status at the time of the injury in order to determine the duty owed to the decedent by defendants. *Id.* at 4. The Court noted that the decedent was an invitee when she was on the premises of the truck stop, but once she traveled into the public roadway, she relinquished that status. *Id.* at 7. The Court noted that a "tenant/lessee/occupier of premises owes a duty of reasonable care to its invitees for the demised property and such necessary incidental areas substantially under its control . . . and which he invites the public to use." *Id.* citing *Wilson v. Allday*, 487 So.2d 793, 798 (Miss. 1986)(emphasis added). Because the plaintiff was not able to establish that the parking lot was an integral part of the business and that defendants invited the public to use the parking lot, the plaintiff was unable to establish a question of fact as to whether defendants owed the decedent a duty at the time of the accident. *Id.* at *8. Defendants admitted to knowing that customers sometimes parked in the parking lot, but the Court held that

"knowledge of patrons' occasional use of the gravel area was insufficient." *Id.* Due to the fact that the plaintiff was unable to establish any duty owed by defendants to the decedent under the premises liability theory, the Supreme Court of Mississippi affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment. *Id.* at *9. As a matter of note, the trial court also addressed the issue of causation and held that the danger of crossing a public roadway was not hidden, but open and obvious, thus requiring no warning. *Id.* Further, the trial court held that the plaintiff failed to prove that the obstructions were a proximate cause of that the lighting was insufficient on the premises. *Id.*

As the Supreme Court of Mississippi in *Albert* held, the duty owed to an individual is determined by the status of the injured party at the time of the injury. *Id.* at *4. As the decedent was not even on the property of TCSD at the time of the injury, he cannot be classified as an invitee, licensee or trespasser. The plaintiff has conceeded that the accident occurred on East Tate Road, a public roadway that is not owned by or in the possession of TCSD. Just as the Court held in *Albert*, the decedent was owed no duty by TCSD and therefore, the plaintiffs' claims against TCSD fail as a matter of law. As such, summary judgment in favor of TCSD was properly granted by the trial court.

The plaintiffs' decedent in this case is one step further removed from establishing liability on TCSD since he had previously been a trespasser in the bus parking lot of TCSD where he parked his vehicle and attempted to cross the public roadway. A trespasser is one who enters upon another's premises without license, invitation or other right. Adams v. Fred's Dollar Store at Batesville, 497 So.2d 1097, 110 (Miss. 1986). "A trespasser enters another's property 'merely for his own purposes, pleasure, or convenience, or out of curiosity, and without any enticement, allurement, inducement or express or implied assurance of safety from the owner or person in charge." Leffler v. Sharp, 891 So.2d 152, 156-57 (Miss. 2004). A landowner simply owes

trespassers the duty to refrain from wilfully or wantonly injuring them. *Id.* at 157. "An owner owes trespassers no duty to keep his premises in a safe condition for their use, and as a general rule, he is not held responsible for an injury sustained by a trespasser upon the premises from a defect therein." *Id.* at 159. Further, "a landowner need not make it impossible for persons to trespass before he may treat intruders as trespassers." *Id.*

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